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INTRODUCTION


This book is a survey of ten of the most interesting spy cases of the twentieth century. It does not claim to be an exhaustive account of the century’s espionage, and the focus is specifically on those who spied for another country, one to which they were not attached or had no allegiance to by birth, citizenship or employment. The ten cases were chosen to illustrate the full range of motivations for spying, such as financial gain, political ideology, dissatisfaction with society or misplaced loyalty to friends or countries, as well as the circumstances that may coerce someone into committing espionage.


Spying stretches back to ancient civilisations, with various examples from ancient Egypt, Greece and the Roman Empire. One of the first major spy networks in more recent times was that organised by Sir Francis Walsingham in Elizabethan England. In the twentieth century, which saw two world wars, the Cold War and numerous other conflicts, the gathering of intelligence against enemies became more sophisticated and ruthless as the political stakes were raised and the technology of espionage developed more rapidly. There was also a massive growth of peacetime spying: knowing what your potential enemy was doing in peacetime became as important as defeating that enemy in a war. By the time that spies were being arrested within the CIA and FBI in the 1990s, the world of espionage was almost unrecognisable from that ninety years prior. The ten spy cases presented here, ranging from Mata Hari at the beginning of the century to Aldrich Ames at the end, illustrate the development of espionage and showcase the most interesting personalities involved.


The celebrity exotic dancer Mata Hari was caught up in the paranoia of World War One, when the fear of spies was suddenly pervasive. Other spies from the first few decades of the century were more defined by political ideology and its impact on political events, mainly the rise of communism and the spread of fascism. Some, such as the Cambridge Five, Klaus Fuchs and Julius and Ethel Rosenberg, were greatly influenced by political idealism, while others were more focused on their own gain, loyal to themselves and their own intellect more than anything else. As the divide between the West and the East widened, John Vassall experienced the Soviets’ newly developed blackmailing techniques, and those involved in the Profumo Affair were manipulated and played largely due to their own carelessness. For Aldrich Ames, political alliances and loyalty mattered little; money was all.


It should be noted that this book includes the first in-depth analysis of the memoirs of Anthony Blunt, a member of the Cambridge Five ring of spies and Surveyor of the Queen’s Pictures. His memoirs, publicly released in the summer of 2009, give Blunt’s considered view of his espionage, treachery and public disgrace. As a former spy and an intellectual, Blunt is adept at not divulging incriminating details, but in the emotion of old age, in the midst of his own ruin, he gives us more than he perhaps realises, with rare honesty and emotion.


As late as 1999, a tiny elderly woman named Melita Norwood, aged 89, was exposed as a former Soviet spy, with some saying that her work for the Russians was as important as that of Kim Philby or Klaus Fuchs. This is debatable, but the frail, bespectacled lady filmed outside her cottage for the television news was far from the popular image of a spy. Her spying had been mainly done in the 1940s and contributed to the Soviet atomic effort. She was not prosecuted, as she was so old and it was so long after the event, with the Soviet Union then extinct for almost a decade. But it is also possible that any prosecution would have embarrassed the British secret services because of security lapses they allowed to happen decades before.


The importance of public opinion should not be underestimated. The public’s view of its own security is paramount in the minds of elected government officials in democratic countries, although in totalitarian regimes security information is largely kept hidden from the public. It is certainly the case that the anti-German paranoia in France and Britain led to the extreme way in which Mata Hari was dealt with, for example. Likewise, the Cambridge Five changed the way that treachery was viewed in Britain and its secret services forever, and the anti-communist feeling in the United States from the late 1940s to the mid-1980s affected greatly the attitudes of the FBI, CIA and American public opinion in general.


Throughout the twentieth century, the public’s interest in espionage has been reflected in fiction and films about spies, which have been popular ever since such books as Joseph Conrad’s The Secret Agent, Erskine Childers’s The Riddle of the Sands and William Le Queux’s novels were written before and during World War One, playing up to the anti-German feeling. Graham Greene’s spy novels, which were informed by Greene’s own experiences as an intelligence agent, would also later have a huge impact, as would the work of John le Carré (David Cornwell, also an intelligence agent) and Len Deighton. But perhaps the greatest influence on the way that espionage grew in the public consciousness in the West were the novels of Ian Fleming, who worked in Naval Intelligence during World War Two, and the resulting James Bond film franchise. More recently, Tom Clancy’s novels have created a blueprint in the minds of the public about the CIA.


This book contains the facts about true spy cases which are often more incredible, thrilling and complex than fiction. The motivations of those who spied or were accused of spying for an enemy power in the twentieth century are often as interesting as the events themselves and key to understanding how a person may become a traitor. Childhood experiences, political and social idealism, hatred of the establishment and a keen need for adventure and thrills are among the main factors in turning to espionage for a foreign power. The promise of financial reward, entrapment by blackmail or simply propitious circumstances may also play a part in certain cases. The reader must make his or her own final judgements when it comes to motivations, with the known facts serving as tools to that end. The survey offered here is an attempt to understand the reasons why these people spied (or if they spied, in one or two cases) against the social and political world in which they lived, as well as hopefully being an interesting read too.









CHAPTER ONE


MATA HARI


In the early morning of 15 October 1917, a forty-one-year-old woman was woken up in the Saint-Lazare Prison in Paris by Father Arbaux and two ‘sisters of charity’. Captain Pierre Bouchardon was there too – the tall, nervous military prosecutor who had arrested the woman. Also present was her lawyer, Edouard Clunet. The woman had been sleeping, and the guards at the prison were to remark later that it was a peaceful sleep. After the sisters had roused her, the woman was told that her time had come.


‘May I write two letters?’ she asked. Captain Bouchardon agreed, and she was given writing materials. She wrote the letters very quickly as she sat on the edge of the bed in her cell. The letters were entrusted to her lawyer. The woman then began to get dressed. She was tall and sat down to put on her thin black stockings. Next she put her black velvet cloak over the silk kimono she had been wearing over her nightgown. She then strapped on a pair of high-heeled shoes. Her jet-black hair was braided, and she placed a black felt hat on her head. Finally she put on a pair of black kid gloves. Turning to the people in her cell, she spoke calmly. ‘I am ready,’ she said.


She was led out to a waiting automobile. It was just after 5 a.m., the air was chilly and fresh, and the woman would have been glad to have her heavy cloak. Paris was silent and unaware as the car made its way towards the army barracks at Vincennes. The barracks was part of an old fort that the Germans had attacked in 1870 during an earlier war with no direct connection with the Great War then raging, which had brought about the unique circumstances for the woman’s imprisonment.


None of the Parisian public knew she was in the car, but many knew her name. She was now plump and in early middle age, but her face was very pretty and still possessed the quality that had transfixed so many men. Her name was Margaretha Zelle, but if anyone had been awake in Paris on that dawn, they would have known her as Mata Hari.


•


With an almost mythological figure such as Mata Hari, it is important to separate fact from fiction and assess the faction that lies somewhere in the middle: the legend versus reality. Some have suggested that she was the original femme fatale, a woman who was dangerous to know. This is possible, as she met her end in France, where the term ‘femme fatale’ originated, and her life and death certainly possessed the required notoriety. She is known as a spy and as an exotic dancer. She was no doubt the latter, and the confidante of many high-placed men, but was she a spy? And if she was a spy, what was her motivation? Or was there a conspiracy against her? The answers surely lie in her life, but after so long, is it possible to know the answer definitively? This is an especially difficult question, as Mata Hari herself liked to create her own legend during her lifetime. She laid the foundations of her iconic status solidly.


Undoubtedly she is the most infamous female spy in history. The subject of countless Hollywood films, she was perhaps most famously played by Greta Garbo in Mata Hari (1931). Characters obviously based on her have also appeared frequently on television, and she has been the focus of scores of newspaper articles and books. The fact is that the legend of Mata Hari has glamour, intrigue and the air of conspiracy. This all sells. She has also been a feminist icon to some women – the strong-willed woman wronged by the male dominated society in which she lived. Or was she a strong and emancipated woman who could more than hold her own against the men around her? Was she really a cold and ruthless spy who sent people to their deaths through the information that she passed or a victim of circumstance? The truth might be either, or somewhere in the middle. But there is one absolute certainty – any study of twentieth-century spies has to begin with Mata Hari.


•


Margaretha Geertruida Zelle was born in Leeuwarden, the Netherlands, on 7 August 1876, the second of four children of Adam Zelle and Antje van der Meulen. Adam Zelle was a milliner by trade, and ran a successful hat shop in Leeuwarden, the capital city of the northern Dutch province of Friesland. He adored his only daughter. She would say later that her father thought of her as ‘an orchid among buttercups’. Margaretha was a confident child, and from a young age she enjoyed wearing colourful and outlandish clothes. She also loved to tell her friends at school fantastic tales about herself, often stories that elevated her birthright. She said, ‘I was born of illustrious ancestors’ and ‘my cradle stood in Carminghastate’, referring to a large mansion in Leeuwarden where local nobility lived. This early myth-making would develop further in Margaretha, and it would colour her personality as an adult. She was something of an exhibitionist with a love of the dramatic, and her dress, behaviour and grand claims about her past would create her legend but also work against her later. At school she was well liked, and she showed a strong flair for languages.


Adam Zelle made successful investments in the burgeoning oil industry, and so the family lived comfortably during Margaretha’s early years. She attended exclusive private schools and was no doubt a well-educated child with social aspirations. The role of young women of Margaretha’s class at that time was a very conventional one. She was expected to get a good education, to be able to conduct herself in upwardly mobile social circles and attract and marry a man with a steady income and good prospects; to give him children and know how to organise and run a large household. However, this usual route was thwarted for Margaretha when her father was declared bankrupt in 1889, when she was thirteen years old. Adam Zelle had made some risky speculations on the stock market and lost everything. The Zelles were forced to sell off all their furniture and move to a poor area of the city – quite a comedown from the affluent one in which they had lived until then. Adam went to Amsterdam to try to start again (or so he claimed) and left Antje, Margaretha and her three brothers behind.


Antje did not fare well bringing up the children alone with no money, and she succumbed to depression and then illness. In 1891 she died suddenly, when Margaretha was just fifteen years old. Her father returned to Leeuwarden for the funeral, but he did not take in his children again. They were separated and went to live with various relatives. Margaretha went to live with her godfather Heer Visser in the town of Sneek, south-west of Leeuwarden – but soon after, at his suggestion, went to the town of Leiden (Leyde) to train to be a kindergarten teacher. The headmaster of the training school was Heer Wybrandus Haanstra, and the teachers were taught to discipline the children strongly. Margaretha’s character was not well suited to the job, as she was not a natural disciplinarian.


Margaretha was not to proceed on this career path anyway. The headmaster became enamoured of her and began to make advances. It seems that she returned his attentions in a small way, and the ‘romance’ caused a scandal, forcing Margaretha to leave the school. How aggressively Heer Wybrandus Haanstra had made a play for her and the extent to which she encouraged him is impossible to say, but in a small Netherlands town in the late nineteenth century any whiff of an affair outside marriage was exceptionally controversial.


It is important to note here how attractive Margaretha already was to men. Basically, she stood out. She was 5 ft 5 in tall at a time when the majority of women were far shorter. She also had black hair, dark eyes and a slightly olive complexion, a rarity among the generally light-haired, blue-eyed and fairer-skinned people of the Netherlands. Some who knew her as a child thought that she might have had some Jewish or Javanese blood – Java was then part of the Dutch East Indies. Margaretha was developing into a very sensual woman, a quality that would define her in the eyes of men and in general. At that time, however, this made her life even more difficult. Her godfather refused to accept her back into his home because of the scandal, and she was forced to go and live with her uncle, Heer Taconis, in The Hague. There she helped the domestic household, but one wonders if this would have been fulfilling for a young woman approaching eighteen of Margaretha’s confident personality. This confidence was no doubt strengthened by the attention given to her by men.


Her life was to change after she saw an advertisement in a newspaper, the first of many twists of fate or opportunities she was to seize throughout her life. The pattern was already forming. Her childhood experiences had forged her into a wilful and determined young woman who was learning to use her charms to get what she wanted. The fact that she had had a pampered beginning that had instilled in her a need for social prestige and the expectation of a comfortable future was fundamental to the development of her aspirations and therefore actions. The double blow that her father had lost everything and her mother had died when she was so young had forced her to become fiercely independent, even if in that age a woman needed a man to operate in respectable society. Coupled with her natural need to be admired by those around her and her capacity to invent and reinvent herself (this would be proven in coming years), she was set already on the path that would make her a legend after her death. Of course, her life would ultimately end in tragedy, and along the way there would be many intrigues, the high life and hard times to come.


The advertisement that young Margaretha, hungry for a new direction, saw in the personals column of a newspaper was to change the course of her life: ‘Officer on home leave from Dutch East Indies would like to meet girl of pleasant character – object matrimony.’ It was not placed by the suitor himself, but by his friend. The suitor was Rudolph MacLeod, and he was no doubt surprised by his friend’s action without his consent, but when Margaretha wrote to him he decided to answer her. MacLeod was Dutch but of Scottish descent, an army officer who had received a medal. At thirty-eight, he was twenty years Margaretha’s senior, and he had health problems that had brought him back to the Netherlands temporarily. MacLeod’s heavy drinking would also make his health worse and was an ominous sign of what was to come.


Margaretha met MacLeod and they fell in love. His attraction to Margaretha was obvious; to her, he was a distinguished man in uniform and perhaps a passport out of her current restrictive world. Most importantly though, he was probably a replacement father figure for her own father, to whom she had been very close. Margaretha would grow into a very independent woman who was something of an opportunist and risk-taker, but she was also young and vulnerable with no money of her own. When MacLeod proposed to her, Margaretha instantly accepted.


Margaretha had told her prospective husband that both of her parents were dead as she was not sure if he would find her now poor and ageing father impressive. This was an early sign of Margaretha’s ruthlessness in getting what she wanted, but it should be remembered that Adam Zelle had effectively abandoned his children. There was a problem, however: a law which stated that a female could marry at the age of sixteen but not without the consent of her parents, and not until she was thirty years old without consent. If her parents had both indeed been dead there would have been no problem, but with her father still alive, she had to get his consent. Margaretha could not wait another twelve years. She confessed to MacLeod that she had deceived him, and he forgave her. Her father then gave them his consent, and they were married on 11 July 1895, just three months after their engagement. The local gossip was that the marriage had been forced by pregnancy, but this was not the case. Their first child, named Norman John, was born on 30 January 1897.


The early signs were that the marriage was not to be a happy one. MacLeod was a heavy drinker and a womaniser, and he took to hitting Margaretha when he was in his alcoholic stupor. Domestic violence at this time was not uncommon, with many husbands acting in ways that would be unacceptable today. MacLeod’s behaviour was largely caused by an obsessive jealousy which made him paranoid about his wife’s loyalty; this was not helped by the fact that many men found her very attractive. Then the news came that MacLeod was going to be transferred to Java. Margaretha welcomed the news. It was her big chance to make a different life, and to fulfil her ambitious social aspirations. Java was exotic, and the young Margaretha had already developed a love and need for this. Java was to shape her as a person and bring about the greatest invention of her life: herself. Arriving in the city of Abawara with baby Norman and her husband, Margaretha was captivated by this mystical place. But MacLeod soon reverted to his old ways, and took a native concubine. There is also some evidence to suggest that MacLeod raped Margaretha more than once on Java. His jealousy had also not abated. Margaretha wrote: ‘My husband won’t get me any dresses because he’s afraid that I will be too beautiful. It’s intolerable. Meanwhile the young lieutenants pursue me and are in love with me. It is difficult for me to behave in a way which will give my husband no cause for reproaches.’


MacLeod became more and more hostile, refusing to allow Margaretha to learn the Malay language spoken on Java, probably for fear she would integrate too well (however, Margaretha secretly learned the language, using her great aptitude for linguistics). He was also abusive to their servants, and it cannot have been an easy household to live in. Then Margaretha became pregnant again. Their second child was born on 2 May 1898, a girl named Jeanne Louise, though she was usually called Non, a Malay name. Even this did not make MacLeod happy, as he had wanted another son. Soon after, MacLeod was told that he was to be made a garrison commander in Medan, Sumatra.


Their new home in Medan was a vast improvement, and MacLeod’s new position meant that they had to entertain often. Margaretha was expected to be a society hostess, and she took naturally to this role. Her acting, language and reinvention skills served her well here. Erika Ostrovsky in Eye of Dawn said of her: ‘She could reign like a queen. Dressed in the latest fashions imported from Amsterdam, a paragon of beauty and elegance, she conversed with visitors in their native language – whether Dutch, German, English or French – gave instructions to the servants in Malay, played the piano most musically, danced with unusual grace.’ MacLeod felt genuinely grateful towards his wife, and life for Margaretha must have seemed to be looking up. She had found her place.


However, this hopeful turn would lead to tragedy. On the night of 27 June 1899, Margaretha and MacLeod were in bed when they heard agonising screams coming from the children’s room. Margaretha raced to the room and found both children vomiting black liquid. Their bodies were in spasm and they continued to cry out in pain. MacLeod ran from the house to find a Dutch doctor but their son Norman died very quickly; their daughter was saved at the hospital. It was said that both children had been poisoned, but they could also have contracted a tropical disease. If they were indeed poisoned, it was never proved who did it, though it was rumoured that a servant whom MacLeod had treated badly might have been the culprit. Regardless, their son was dead and little else mattered.


Both Margaretha and MacLeod were grief-stricken, but they dealt with the tragedy in different ways. Margaretha would sit staring at nothing for hours while MacLeod would fly into rages, sometimes unfairly blaming his wife for their son’s death (this may have been guilt on his part, especially if he believed a servant he had wronged had killed Norman). MacLeod was soon transferred back to Java, and to add to her anguish Margaretha caught typhoid. In hallucinations she saw Hindu gods (she had studied some Hindu texts). MacLeod was insensitive even when she was ill, complaining that her medicines were too expensive. Margaretha recovered, but she was now realising that there was no happy future with her abusive husband. She wrote to her father and sister-in-law, begging them to send her money so that she could go back to Europe. They both refused, advising her to be a better wife. Luckily, MacLeod himself now decided that he wanted to return to the Netherlands. Margaretha’s relief was cut short when MacLeod beat her badly soon after their return and walked out, taking their daughter with him.


Divorce was not common in the Netherlands, but Margaretha could take no more. She went to a tribunal in Amsterdam and applied for a legal separation. This was granted, and the court ruled that MacLeod had to return their daughter to Margaretha and make regular monthly payments for the child’s upkeep. The girl was returned, but MacLeod refused to make the payments, saying that he was too poor. He then went on to do something even more spiteful – he placed an advert in the newspapers in Amsterdam that read: ‘I request all and sundry not to supply goods or services to my estranged wife Margaretha MacLeod-Zelle.’ He tried to convince the public that Margaretha had deserted him. It has to be remembered that society was much more conservative at that time, and any hint of scandal attached to Margaretha would have made her an outcast. She could not find a job, and so had to return her daughter to MacLeod. This was probably what he had been aiming for.


Margaretha had to go and live with relatives again, where she was not very welcome. She must have felt helpless and frustrated. She had wanted to see Paris for some time, and somehow she found enough money to make her way there. She fell in love with the sophisticated and artistic city, but unfortunately she could not find a job either in the theatre or in modelling. With no choice but to return to the Netherlands, she went back defeated, but not for long. Through a series of tragedies and hardships, mostly not her fault, Margaretha had become a survivor by necessity; her spirits were not dampened. She knew that life had more to offer her if she could find the right situation. She felt that Paris was her future and became focused on returning there and making herself a success.


•


It was a new century, the twentieth century, and changes in society were happening fast. Margaretha was about to have a rebirth. It would need all of her charm, intelligence and determination. She was going to make it in a place where she would be appreciated.


To reinvent herself on her return to Paris in 1903, Margaretha took a stage name, determined to forge a performing career. She worked for a time as a circus horse rider, using the stage name Lady MacLeod. This was her entry into the world of entertainment, then considered very vulgar for a woman, but far short of the social boundaries she would eventually cross. During this time she lived a transient and financially unstable existence, moving often and living on her wits.


But more and more she wanted to be a dancer, and to facilitate this transition she began to use the stage name Mata Hari, taken from the Malay language. On 13 March 1905, she made her debut as an exotic dancer at the Musée Guimet under her new name. She caused a sensation, which is described by Erika Ostrovsky in Eye of Dawn: ‘The diaphanous shawls she wore as the dance began were cast away to tempt the god until finally… the sarong was abandoned and her silhouette, with her back to the audience, writhed with desire towards her supernatural lover… Mata Hari groaned and worked her loins deliriously.’


The ‘supernatural lover’ is the Hindu god Shiva, a statue of whom Mata Hari used in her routine, an insinuation that she was raising the power of a higher spirit when she danced. Other contemporary dancers, such as Isadora Duncan, also used Egyptian and Asian themes. Margaretha had spotted this trend and helped to pioneer it. This mixture of mysticism and eroticism was explosive, especially in 1905. Even in liberal Paris, an almost fully nude woman dancing suggestively must have been a spectacular and controversial sight. It got exactly the reaction that Margaretha, now Mata, wanted. She went on to perform in Monte Carlo, Germany and Spain, in addition to her many Paris performances to come. She was never totally nude – she felt that her breasts were too small at a time when the fuller figure was in vogue, so she wore breast-cups, and a skin-coloured body stocking shielded her pubic hair from view. But the suggestion was enough, and imaginations ran wild.


Mata Hari had arrived.


In the beginning, the legend of Mata Hari was strongly driven by Margaretha herself. Very much as an actor inhabits a role, ‘Mata Hari’ became Margaretha’s alter ego, and Margaretha distorted the truth about her own past to create her legend. The stories of her father’s bankruptcy, death of her mother, poor and unhappy teenage years, failed and violent marriage, the death of her son and loss of her daughter were never mentioned. But it should also be remembered that this is not uncommon in the entertainment world, where image is everything. Aside from her near nudity, the success of Mata Hari in the eyes of western Europeans depended on a perception of her as almost being from another world. Margaretha fuelled this perception, and after a while the legend took care of itself.


Mata Hari claimed that she was born in India to a high family, and her hair, eyes and colouring helped to support this. She elaborated further by saying that her mother had been a temple dancer and that she had died giving birth to her. She had then apparently been brought up in the Hindu temple of the god Shiva, and sacrificed to his service. Her reading of Hindu texts no doubt gave Margaretha the knowledge to back up these statements. In her 2007 book Femme Fatale, Pat Shipman quotes Mata Hari as saying:




My dance is a sacred poem in which each movement is a word and whose every word is underlined by music. The temple in which I dance can be vague or faithfully reproduced, as here today. For I am the temple. All true temple dances are religious in nature and all explain, in gestures and poses, the rules of the sacred texts.





For the next seven years, from 1905 until 1912, Mata Hari danced regularly and achieved a high level of fame in Europe. Her official MI5 file (KV 2/1) contains many press cuttings about her from newspapers and magazines, including the London Evening Standard, The Evening News and the Daily Mail, as well as French and German magazines. Many of them carry photographs of her dancing, and even in still images her exotic beauty and shimmering elegance are evident. However, by 1912 she was in her late thirties and her body was beginning to age. It was at about this time that she began to become something of a courtesan, entertaining men. Her beauty and her fame, or notoriety, as a sensual dancer were now assured. She bewitched many men. But the shrewd Margaretha who had effectively already lived several lives before starting as a dancer at the late age of almost thirty knew that she could not go on forever. It should be noted that she wrote frequent letters to her daughter during this period, but they were returned unopened by her former husband. There was even an unsuccessful attempt by Margaretha to kidnap her daughter by using one of her servants.


She had already become the mistress of the Lyon millionaire Émile Étienne Guimet, the founder of the Musée Guimet, where she had made her debut. This affair would go on for some time. Her relationships with several high-ranking soldiers and politicians from different countries, including the German Crown Prince, would cause her trouble later but for now helped pay for her luxurious lifestyle. Undoubtedly there were other courtesans in Paris living in a similar way, but at the outbreak of World War One in 1914, her connections with the French intelligence services would create the backdrop to her downfall.


Just over two months before the start of the war, on 23 May 1914, Mata Hari performed at a music hall in Germany. Some members of the audience that night lodged complaints about the indecency of her act. A German policeman called Griebel was sent to witness it and pass judgement, but he fell in love with Mata Hari and arranged to take her out. This is where the story becomes misty.


There are two camps of thought regarding Mata Hari, and both need to be explained.


One camp believes that she was guilty of being a German spy, and in this version, the German policeman Griebel did not take Hari out, but his superior, Traugott von Jagow, did. This camp also says that von Jagow was the head of German intelligence, and that he persuaded Mata Hari to spy on France for Germany. The political situation was very tense at this time, and it is possible. This view of events, held by a number of scholars, goes on to say that Hari attended a spy school in Antwerp for fifteen weeks, where she learned all the techniques of spying and was given the code name ‘H-21’.


The other camp says that Mata Hari was never a German spy, and that she never went to the Antwerp intelligence school. It is also known that Mata Hari herself always firmly denied going there. What is certain is that she left Germany on 6 August 1914, two days after the war with Germany broke out. She would later say that she left so quickly because the German authorities were treating foreigners suspiciously, and as she had lived in Paris for years she was considered French, and France was now Germany’s sworn enemy. She went to Switzerland, and then back to Germany because of a problem with her papers. Next she went to Amsterdam, and would travel between there and Paris in the coming months. The Netherlands remained neutral during World War One, so she was able to travel relatively easily on her Dutch passport.


It was back in Paris that Mata Hari met the man who is generally considered to be the true love of her life. He was a Russian soldier called Vladmir Masloff, and he was only twenty-one years old while she was now almost forty. She was flattered by the attentions of a handsome, much younger man, and it is possible that he was a subconscious replacement for her dead son Norman in some way. For Masloff, she was a famous and highly desirable woman whom many men coveted. However, as so often in the life of Margaretha/Mata, fate was to be cruel. Masloff was sent back to the front to fight, a brutal environment of trench warfare and heavy casualties, and there he lost the sight of an eye as a result of being gassed by the Germans. He also faced losing the sight in his other eye and was to be treated in a special military hospital at Vittel. It was in the war zone, so Mata needed special permission to go and see him there. She apparently wanted to finance for him the best medical treatment available. To gain access to her lover at Vittel, Mata became acquainted with a Frenchman called Georges Ladoux, in charge of French counter-espionage, whom she met through an acquaintance. Knowing this man would eventually lead Mata Hari to her death.


Georges Ladoux tried to persuade Mata Hari to become a French spy, as he knew that she had many contacts and that with some subterfuge she could get some information. He dangled a financial carrot, and gave her some time to think about it. She thought about it, and her decision was to accept his offer. There were probably three reasons for this: desire to gain access to her lover to help him, the perceived glamour of spying to her adventurous mind, and perhaps most importantly the financial rewards. She was a woman who expected to live in a very comfortable way, and the promise of a large, though unknown, sum of money would probably have been very attractive to her. The amount offered, and much more information about the case, will not be known until the French government’s files are opened in 2017 after a hundred years, if the information is still there.


For a woman to be chosen to act as a spy was uncommon at this time, and this would be one of the reasons that Mata Hari became unique in the eyes of society. Female spies had operated in minor roles before, but such active recruitment of a woman by an intelligence service was very new then. It was only later in the twentieth century that secret services realised how useful women could be. Most men would not think that a woman could be an agent at the time of World War One. Spies were usually recruited from the military so were male, or through family connections which Mata Hari did not have. Women were often patronisingly thought too gentle and simple-minded to be spies, but this very outward unsuitability would prove to be a valuable asset for later female agents. One female Soviet agent operating in Britain in World War Two and after would comment that putting out her young son’s washing on the line in the garden was a perfect cover for her espionage. But Mata Hari was not a conventional woman.


Ladoux thought hard about how best to use her, and decided that she would be most useful in Brussels. She knew a businessman there that could get her access to General Moritz von Bissing, who was in charge of the German occupation of Belgium. The plan was for her to seduce von Bissing, and hopefully get him to tell her some classified military information. Because of the disruption caused by the war, Mata Hari could not travel directly to Belgium – she had to go via Britain, Spain and Holland – and it was in Britain that her troubles began.


She was arrested as soon as her boat docked at Folkestone. In Mata Hari’s MI5 file there is a physical description of her at the moment she was arrested after stepping off the boat: ‘Height: 5 ft 5 in; Build: medium, stout; Hair: black; Head and Face: oval; Complexion: olive; Forehead: low; Eyes: grey brown; Eyebrows: dark; Nose: straight; Mouth: small; Teeth: good; Chin: pointed; Hands: well kept; Feet: small; Age: 39’. Under the section headed ‘Peculiarities of Carriage’: ‘Speaks French, English, Italian, Dutch and probably German. Handsome – bold type of woman.’ In the section ‘Peculiarities of Dress’: ‘Well and fashionably dressed – brown costume with racoon fur trimming and hat to match.’ There is also an official form in her MI5 file listing the luggage that she was travelling with, and it conveys a sense of the high life that she had become accustomed to. There was one small wooden box containing a gilt clock, one hat box, three trunks full of clothes, one wooden box containing two brushes and a fine china tea service, one Gladstone bag with numerous items inside, one travelling rug and a fitted lady’s dressing bag.


It seems that she was already suspected of spying for the Germans. They were looking for a certain German spy called Clara Benedix, who looked a little like Mata Hari. The fact that Margaretha Zelle had already changed her name to Mata Hari only added to the suspicions of the British. Interrogated at Cannon Row police station in London by the Head of Special Branch, Basil Thompson, she of course denied being Benedix. Her MI5 file shows that she gave Thompson a list of twelve character references which included her barristers in The Hague, Holland; Captain Ladoux, Ministre de la Guerre, 282 Boulevard Saint Germain, Paris; Count van Limburg-Stirum; Henri Rudeax, an artist, residing at the Savoy Hotel, London; the Marquis de Beaufort of the 4th Lancers, Belgian Army, France.


The following is an extract of her interrogation at the police station, present in her MI5 file:






	INTERVIEWER:

	‘Will you describe Captain Ladoux?’






	MATA HARI:

	‘A fat man with very black beard and very black hair, and spectacles.’






	INTERVIEWER:

	‘How tall?’






	MATA HARI:

	‘He was tall and fat. Fatter than a man of fifty years.’






	INTERVIEWER:

	‘Did Captain Ladoux or the other man give you any money?’






	MATA HARI:

	‘No.’






	INTERVIEWER:

	‘Just a promise that if you were useful…’






	MATA HARI:

	‘I would not make anything out of the Russian business. If I gave Captain Ladoux plenty of satisfaction, then I would have a million.’(French francs, presumably.)







After her interrogation, Mata Hari checked into the Savoy Hotel in London, where she stayed in Room 261.


The British authorities contacted Georges Ladoux in France, and he told them to send her to Spain, where (according to her MI5 file) she stayed at the Ritz Hotel in Madrid. There is also a letter in her file concerning Ladoux which clearly shows that he was far from supportive of Hari and which sheds some light on further developments in her case. It was from the Mission Anglaise in Paris to MI5, dated 18 November 1916:




Reference to our telegram… of November 16, herewith a copy of a letter from Captain Ladoux on this woman. He informs us that he has suspected her for some time, and pretended to employ her, in order, if possible, to obtain definite proof that she is working for the Germans. He would be glad to hear that her guilt has been clearly established.





Some historians who believe Mata Hari to have been a German spy have suggested that she rendezvoused with the German Lieutenant Wilhelm Canaris (who in World War Two was to be the head of German military intelligence) in Spain and that he was her controller. But there is no firm evidence of this, and many have disagreed.


It was now the end of 1916, and Mata Hari did definitely make contact with another important German contact, Major Arnold Kalle. She tried to soften him into giving her some secrets to pass to the French, and he told her that he was in the process of ‘trying to arrange for a submarine to drop off some German and Turkish officers in the French zone of Morocco.’ She gave this information to Georges Ladoux. However, it was not fresh intelligence, and already known to the French. Kalle had set her up to see if she would take the bait. Hari also gave some ‘secret’ information to Kalle. It was related to the French not being content with the British handling of the Allies, and a specific morsel about the Allies wanting to make a new offensive in the spring of the next year. But this was all unclassified information – it had even been reported in the French media. And the next time that she saw Kalle, he told her that he knew that she had passed on the information about the submarine.


Mata Hari must have returned to Paris at the beginning of 1917 expecting a big pay-off from Georges Ladoux. But he paid her nothing, saying that the submarine information was valueless and that she had to do better. She would not get the chance.


Ladoux and his colleagues in French intelligence were decoding messages they had intercepted, sent by Major Kalle to his superiors in Berlin. One of them read: ‘H-21 informs us – Princess George of Greece, Marie Bonaparte, is using her intimate relations with Briand to get French support for her husband’s access to the Greek throne [Aristide Briand was then Prime Minister of France]. She says Briand’s enemies would welcome further defeats in the war to overthrow him. Britain has political and military control of France. French are afraid to speak up. General offensive planned for next spring.’


It is almost certain that Kalle had set Mata Hari up. The French were probably most shocked that Hari appeared to have a German code name. But was this real, or just an invention by Kalle? The information in the message was not top secret, and hardly of great damage to the French and the Allied war effort. But were the French looking for a scapegoat anyway – prepared to rise to Kalle’s bait for their own reasons?


At the beginning of 1917, France was deep in the middle of the war that had begun in August 1914. It was a conflict that had engulfed much of Europe, and France and Britain were waiting for the intervention and assistance of the United States. Most of the bloodiest battles of the war had been fought in France, with brutal trench warfare and gassing, with some days seeing casualties in the high tens of thousands. It was called at the time ‘the war to end all wars’. At the beginning of 1917, the war had induced a state of acute paranoia in French military intelligence, and the fear of spies was endemic. The intelligence services of this modern world were new and inexperienced, which served to make them even more insecure about infiltration. The political climate in which Mata Hari returned to Paris was truly explosive.


On 1 February 1917, Germany restarted its campaign of unrestricted submarine warfare, a tactic that threatened to win it the war, mortally wounding Britain and France before the United States could intervene. Two days later, the United States severed all diplomatic channels to Germany (although the first US troops would not enter France until 26 May that year). On 6 February, German land forces were obliged to withdraw twenty-five miles (40 km) to their Hindenburg Line fortifications. A week later, on 13 February 1917, Mata Hari was arrested in Paris.


She faced seventeen interrogations by the military prosecutor Captain Pierre Bouchardon even prior to going before a military court. The conditions in which she was held in the Saint-Lazare Prison in Paris were primitive and unclean, and she was kept in isolation from any other prisoners, allowed only fifteen minutes of exercise a day. She wrote to Bouchardon from the prison, where she would spend eight months: ‘You have made me suffer too much. I am completely mad. I beg of you, put an end to this. I am a woman.’ In another letter: ‘I have not done any espionage in France. Let me have provisional liberty. Don’t torture me here.’


Her lawyer was actually a former lover. Edouard Clunet was seventy-four and had no experience of representing anybody on a spying charge; he had previously dealt with Hari’s professional affairs. She finally stood trial at the Palace of Justice in July 1917. When the public found out, a massive crowd gathered outside, a testament to her fame or notoriety. The trial did not go well for her. Public opinion was firmly against anyone accused of spying at a time of war, and the regulations of the military court were strongly on the side of the prosecution. The main evidence against her was the intercepted message, but many witnesses were called. She was painted as a promiscuous and dissolute woman by the prosecution, and her past and fame obviously did her no favours in that perception of her. But one witness for the defence did give her a good character reference. He was a high-ranking member of the French foreign ministry, and he had also been Hari’s lover.


But it was not enough. Mata Hari was found guilty and ordered to pay the costs of her case. She was then sentenced: ‘The Council unanimously condemns the named person, Zelle, Marguerite Gertrude [sic], as mentioned above, to the punishment of death.’ Hari was shocked by the verdict, but it was in fact almost inevitable for somebody found guilty of spying in wartime. Many soldiers had been shot for cowardice and desertion.


A letter in Mata Hari’s MI5 file is enlightening as it shows Ladoux’s thinking:




Mission Anglaise, Paris
3 July 1917


Marguerite Zell [sic] has been sentenced to death but the sentence has not yet been carried into effect. Captain Ladoux who had the case in hand tells me that they found nothing incriminating amongst her effects and nothing to show that she had been in any way connected with espionage in England. During her interrogation she divulged nothing but Ladoux is of opinion that now she has been condemned she will probably make a statement with a view to getting her sentenced [sic] commuted, in which case it is conceivable that there would be matter interesting to MI5.





Mata Hari spent the next three months appealing for a reprieve from prison, traumatised by her coming fate. No reprieve came. On the morning that they came to take her to her death, 15 October 1917, she had slept well, but only because she had been given a sedative. When told that her final appeal for clemency had been rejected by the president, she cried out: ‘It’s not possible! It’s not possible!’


But once the realisation of her fate had sunk in, she handled herself with dignity, saying to a nun: ‘Don’t be afraid, sister. I shall know how to die.’


When the car containing Mata Hari arrived at the Vincennes barracks in the early morning, the twelve men of the firing squad were ready with their rifles. Their commanding officer stood beside them with his sword out. Hari was led down to a mound of earth that towered above her and placed in front of it. She had a short conversation with Father Arbaux, and then a soldier approached her with a blindfold.


‘Must I wear that?’ asked Mata Hari. She was allowed to face her end without it. The men assembled, the commanding officer raised his sword, and when it came down the barrage of shots was fired. An eyewitness, Henry Wales, reported for the International News Service: ‘At the report Mata Hari fell. She did not die as actors or moving picture stars would have us believe that people die when they are shot. She did not throw up her hands nor did she plunge straight forward or straight back. Instead she seemed to collapse… She lay prone, motionless, with her face turned towards the sky.’


The name ‘Mata Hari’ in the Malay language means ‘Eye of Dawn’, and that morning, as the first waking of the sun glistened through the clouds, Margaretha Zelle spent her last few seconds with her eyes wide open.


•


Mata Hari is a figure shrouded in the mists of time and intrigue, the most famous female convicted spy ever, and an icon of excitement, glamour and decadence. She is also a feminist icon, and many believe a scapegoat in the heated and deeply suspicious climate of World War One. But she was convicted of spying in wartime against her adopted country, however unfair her trial may have been. The definitive truth may never been known, but the only hope is the release of official French government documents in 2017, a hundred years after her execution, if the real story is indeed contained in those files. Biographers and historians have grappled with her life and fate for decades and, as we have seen, there are two defined camps of thought: guilty double agent or the scapegoat of duplicitous political forces.


Mata Hari’s life was tumultuous, transient and lived in an opportunistic fashion. The early pampering by her father and aligned social expectations were given a huge jolt with her father’s bankruptcy and her mother’s early death. Reduced to near poverty and the charity of relatives and then battered by a marriage to an abusive husband, the tragic death of her son and separation from her daughter, she had no choice but to harden and survive. Her independent, imaginative and determined spirit – shown even at her death by her refusal of a blindfold – were all that got her through.


Then there was the chameleon Margaretha Zelle who became the mystical Mata Hari, one of the most famous and ingenious creations of the twentieth century. There is no doubt that she was an opportunist, and that she could be ruthless in her own way to get what she wanted. She fabricated an image and it worked for her, giving her the high standard of living that she so craved. But when she got involved with French intelligence, she was perhaps out of her depth, a courtesan courting real danger this time. She did admit to passing old and useless information to the German Major Kalle, and this undoubtedly helped convict her. Politics must be the most ruthless way of life, especially during a long and bitter war, and she took a big step too far in that direction.


Her most recent biographer Pat Shipman has claimed that Mata Hari was never a double agent at all. Was she the scapegoat of Georges Ladoux, the head of French intelligence who recruited her? Incredibly and perhaps incriminatingly, Ladoux was later arrested as a double agent himself, and would admit that it was possible that she was the victim of a hoax set up by the Germans through Major Arnold Kalle. Or was it a set-up by the Germans, capitalised on by Ladoux to divert attention from the front or from his own activities? One thing is for certain – Mata Hari was enmeshed in a web of deception. In 2001 two plaintiffs, Hari’s hometown of Leeuwarden and the Mata Hari Foundation, launched a plea to the French government to have a review of her 1917 trial and conviction. A ninety-two-year-old researcher named Leon Schirmann claimed that she was framed by the French to increase morale at home and act as anti-German propaganda. Nothing definitive came from this development.


Mata Hari’s execution itself was politically convenient for the French government as a deterrent to other potential spies and a way of boosting nationalist feeling when morale was flagging at that point in the Great War. She was also undoubtedly an easy target because of her extremely liberal way of life. Just as in Victorian and Edwardian England, France at this time was full of hypocrisy: the face it presented was pure and proper, but under the surface the activities of society were the very opposite. Mata Hari was a seeker of thrills and adventure, a woman of great force of personality and charisma, who used her amazing sensuality to get what she wanted in a male-dominated society. But was Mata Hari a true innocent who waded out of her depth? Or was she really a double agent, ruthlessly trying to manipulate two sides in a war for financial gain? It could be said that the legend she created herself helped to convict and kill her. One thing is for certain, however: Mata Hari was no Sidney Reilly.
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